IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

IRA MARTIN AMAZON,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 64,117

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE

APR 26 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JERRY HILL
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W.C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS

Hall of Justice Building 455 North Broadway Avenue Bartow, Florida 33830-3798 (813)533-0931 or 533-1184

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 7, 1981, a Pinellas County grand jury returned an indictment charging Ira Martin Amazon with two counts of first degree murder for the death of Joy J. Chapin and Jennifer Chapin. (R8-9) The State Attorney, on December 8, 1981, filed an information charging Amazon with burglary of the Chapin residence and sexual battery upon Joy Chapin. (DCR1-2)½/ These crimes were committed at the same time as the murders. (R1-2, 8-9)(DCR17-18) On January 6, 1982, Amazon filed a written plea of not guilty on the two murder charges (Cir.Ct.Case No. 81-9622 CFANO). (R27) Amazon appeared before Circuit Judge Thomas E. Penick, Jr. on April 26, 1982, and pleaded guilty to the burglary and sexual battery charges (Cir.Ct.Case No. 81-9620CFANO). (DCR12-20) Judge Penick accepted the plea on that date, but withheld adjudication of guilt. (DCR20)

After entering guilty pleas to the burglary and sexual battery charges, Amazon moved to dismiss the murder charges on double jeopardy grounds because he had been placed in jeopardy when he entered guilty pleas to the underlying felonies. (R47-53) Circuit Judge Penick denied the motion. (R84) Amazon filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the Second District Court

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ References to the record on appeal will be designated with the prefix "R." A supplemental record filed in this case is a copy of the record on appeal filed in the Second District Court of Appeal in Amazon v. State, Circuit Court Number 81-9620CFANO. References to this supplemental record will be designated with the prefix "DCR."

of Appeal seeking review of the double jeopardy issue. The petition was denied without prejudice to raise the issue on appeal. (R144-145)

Amazon proceeded to a jury trial on the indictment containing two counts of first degree murder. (R738-2426) The jury found him guilty (R182-183,2135-2136), and after hearing additional evidence, the same jury recommended life sentences for the homicides. (R199-200,2419-2420) Circuit Judge Penick delayed sentencing. (R2423-2425)

On December 8, 1982, Judge Penick adjudged Amazon guilty of the two murders and sentenced him to death. (R239-243, 2439-2442,491-499) He found five aggravating circumstances: (1) the homicides occurred during the commission of a burglary, sexual battery and kidnapping; (2) the homicides were committed to avoid arrest; (3) the homicides were committed for pecuniary gain; (4) the homicides were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (5) the homicides were premeditated. (R495-499) No mitigating circumstances were found. (R491-495)

After sentencing, information regarding juror misconduct while sequestered during the course of the trial was related to the court. (R265-378,382) Amazon amended his pending motion for new trial to include juror misconduct as an additional ground. (R410-412) An extensive inquiry into the misconduct was conducted. (R385-406,413-435,2467-3225) Via two separate orders, the trial court denied Amazon's motion for new trial. (R447-452, 489-490)

Amazon timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on August 10, 1983. (R500)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

GUILT PHASE:

During the early morning of December 1, 1981, Candice Doherty heard a scream. (R1259) At about the same time, her telephone rang. (R1259) She answered and heard another scream over the telephone. (R1259) She spoke to Jennifer Chapin (R1259), the eleven-year-old daughter of Doherty's friend and neighbor, Joy Chapin. (R1253-1254) Thinking something was wrong with Joy, Doherty ran across the street to the Chapin residence. (R1260) The house was locked, and Doherty enlisted the aid of another neighbor, John Calder. (R1239-1240,1260-1261) finally gained entry into the residence through an open sliding glass door at the back of the house. (R1240-1242,1261) they found Joy Chapin in the living room and Jennifer Chapin in the kitchen. (R1243-1246, 1262-1263) Both had been stabbed. (R1407) Calder and Doherty telephoned the sheriff's office. (R1244-1245,1263)

Sheriff's deputies arrived within seven minutes of the call. (R1228,1265) Deputy Jerry Davis was first to arrive. (R1228) Several others arrived, secured the scene and began talking to neighbors who had gathered outside. (R1236) Donna Brown, a pathologist and medical examiner, examined the bodies at the scene. (R1404-1405) Later, she performed autopsies at the medical examiner's office. (R1406) Brown concluded that both Joy and Jennifer Chapin died as the result of multiple stab wounds. (R1406-1407)

Joy Chapin had suffered seven stab wounds and two superficial cuts. (R1409) There were some bruises and abrasions to her cheek, chin and lips. (R1410) Two sucker type bruises were found on her right breast and left shoulder. (R1414-1415) She also had some scrapes on her chest and two superficial wounds on her right wrist. (R1410) One stab wound caused injury to her stomach. (R1410-1411) Two stabs were in her back and two were located in the flank area. (R1411) Finally, the most severe stab wound was 5 to 6 inches deep and traversed her lung. (R1411) Death would have occurred within 15 or 20 minutes from that wound. (R1412)

Jennifer Chapin had suffered sixteen stab wounds and two superficial cuts. (R1412) Four wounds were found on her left shoulder, six in the back, four more to her thigh, two superficial wounds on her left hand. (R1413) There were also a few superficial scrapes. (R1413) The most severe wound was underneath the armpit and punctured the lung and aorta. (R1413) Jennifer would have died with 15 to 20 minutes after the stabbing. (R1414)

Among the neighbors who gathered outside the Chapin residence was Ira Amazon. (R1335-1336) He lived next door with his mother, Naomi Amazon, twin brother, Harry and sister, Jodi. (R1195,1270-1271) Deputy John Davis interviewed Jodi and Ira while they stood in the front yard of their home. (R1337) Jodi said she heard some screams from the Chapin house which woke her up at 3:57 a.m. (R1337) Ira said that when Jodi turned on

her light, he was awakened, looked through his bedroom window and observed someone run from the Chapin's residence and scale the backyard fence. (R1337-1338) At a later time, Ira also advised that the Amazon residence had been burglarized. (R1346-1351) He pointed out a cut screen and noted items which had been moved around inside the house. (R1346-1352) Naomi Amazon's purse was later discovered approximately 150 yards from the Amazon's residence. (R1205-1208) A sheriff's department tracking dog followed a scent from the back of the Chapin residence, over the fence separating the Chapin's and Amazon's yard and around the Amazon's house. (R1155-1159) The dog did not find a scent at the fence at the back of the Chapin's yard. (R1157)

A knife was found on the fence line between the Amazon's and the Chapin's yards. (R1194-1195) It was a common kitchen knife manufactured by Chicago Cutlery. (R1324-1328) Human blood of the same type as Joy Chapin's was discovered on the knife. (R1526) Additionally, a fiber consistent with fibers from the carpet in the Chapin's house was on the knife. (R1477) John Chapin, Joy Chapin's husband from whom she had been separated for about a year (R1295-1296), testified that no such knife was in the residence when he lived there. (R1298) He also said that he had not noticed the knife in the home on occasions when he visited his children. (R1297) Candice Doherty, the neighbor, also testified that she had not noticed a knife of that type in the Chapin residence. (R1269,1279-1280) Over relevancy objections, (R1047,1257-1259,1265) Doherty was also allowed to

testify that she had once owned a similar knife that had been stolen when her house was burglarized several months earlier. (R1265-1269) She could not identify the knife as the one she had owned. (R1268,1281,1284-1285)

The point of entry into the house was an upstairs bedroom window where a screen had been removed. (R1189) It was gathered as evidence (R1360-1363), and latent fingerprints matching Ira Amazon's fingers were discovered on the aluminum frame of the screen. (R1366,1400-1401,1445-1457) A forensic metallurgist, William Tobin, examined the screen and the knife and testified over defense objections. (R1729-1746) He found some markings on the screen frame consistent with having been made with a flat tool. (R1743) However, he could not determine when the marks were made. (R1742) Tobin also examined the knife and found some impression markings on the tip of the blade, but he could not tell when the marks were placed there. (R1738-1739,1742) The marks on the screen and the knife were insufficient for Tobin to determine if the knife made the marks on the screen. (R1744)

Four pieces of rope were found in the bedroom area of the house on the floor. (R1219,1312-1314) A pubic hair which was consistent with the pubic hair of Ira Amazon was found on the rope. (R1472) John Chapin testified that there was no rope of that type in the house while he lived there a year earlier. (R1295-1296,1302) A former neighbor of the Amazon's, Michael Fitzgerald, testified that he had seen similar clothesline type

rope in the Amazon's backyard one or two years before the homicide. (R1484-1490) He could not identify the rope found in the Chapin's house as the same rope. (R1486-1488)

The latent fingerprint examiner compared the print found on the window screen to known fingerprints of Ira Amazon which he had taken as elimination prints regarding the reported burglary at Amazon's home. (R1304-1310,1444-1456) They matched. (R1456) As a result, Amazon was taken to the sheriff's office for questioning. (R1538-1541) This occurred approximately 12 hours after the homicides. (R1239,1541)

When questioned, Amazon first denied involvement in the homicides. (R1542-1543) However, after being confronted with the fingerprint match, Amazon admitted to the murders. (R1543-1549) He said, "I killed her" and began crying. (R1545-1546) Ira then said he went into the house through a bedroom window. (R1547) It was dark inside. (R1547) Someone hit him on the head with a candlestick. (R1547) He confronted Joy Chapin, took her into a bedroom and raped her. (R1547-1548) Next, he asked her for silver or money and she directed him downstairs. (R1549) As they came downstairs, Ira saw Jennifer Chapin talking on the telephone in the kitchen. (R1549) He grabbed a knife from the kitchen counter and stabbed her. (R1549) When Joy Chapin began fighting him, Ira stabbed her also. (R1549) At that time, he heard someone screaming at the door, and he fled through the sliding glass doors. (R1549) According to Detective Gary Herbein, Ira said he killed the Chapins because they could recognize him. (R1559) However, Detective Earling

did not hear such a statement. (R1656-1657) The statement did not appear in the tape or typed statement Amazon gave the detectives. (R1579-1582) Amazon said he ran to his house, staged a burglary, changed clothes and waited for the police. (R1549) He also told the detective that he had consumed LSD, quaaludes and several alcoholic drinks shortly before the homicides. (R1558-1559)

Shortly after Amazon's arrest and 17 hours after he last consumed drugs or alcohol, he gave blood and urine samples for testing. (R1496,1791-1792) Tests conducted by two experts were negative for the presence of drugs or alcohol. (R1095, 1725-1726) However, Dr. Brian Finkle testified that a large amount of alcohol could have been consumed and eliminated from the system in 17 hours. (R1125-1128) Also, there was no commercially reliable test for the presence of LSD. (R1099-1100) Finkle did run an experimental test on the urine sample which proved negative. (R110-1105) But, this was the first time he had used the experimental test on samples which were several months old at the time of the test which could have affected the results. (R1115-1122) Some neighbors and deputies who talked to Amazon at the scene said he did not appear to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol. (R1170-1171,1234,1273,1341) Amazon required treatment for drug withdrawal his first night in jail. (R2284-2285)

Amazon testified at trial. (R1784-1900) He again admitted to the homicides. (R1803-1808) His girlfriend, Stacey Burkowitz, was visiting at the Amazon's. (R1786) She and Ira

were drinking rum. (R1786-1787) After Stacey left around 1:00 a.m., Ira drove his mother's car to get a street sign which had his girlfriend's name on it. (R1789-1792) He intended to give to her as a gift. (R1789) On the return trip home, Ira stopped a Brewer's Lounge where he consumed three more drinks. (R1790) Upon his return, Ira stole some money, jewelry and pills from his mother's purse. (R1793-1794) He staged a burglary to coverup the theft. (R1796-1798) Next, he listened to music in his bedroom and consumed LSD. (R1799-1801) It was not until 8:00 a.m. the next morning that Ira had a clear memory. (R1812-1813) He did not remember killing the Chapins until he was provided with information about the crimes while being questioned at the sheriff's office. (R1829-1831) His memory of the killings then returned, in flashback form, and that is when Ira admitted to the homicides. (R1830-1831)

During the trial, the jury was taken to the crime scene for a view. (R1174-1226) Four deputies testified at the scene describing the house and the location of various items and activities. (R1180-1226) A video tape of the crime scene prepared during the investigation was played and narrated for the jury. (R1207-1221) Ira Amazon was not present during this portion of the trial. Defense counsel stated that after discussion with Amazon, a decision to waive his presence was made. (R1044-1047) However, Amazon did not personally waive his presence or personally ratify his counsel's waiver. (R1044-1047)

At the jury instruction charge conference, defense counsel objected to the instruction on felony murder. (R1914-

1922,1974) Counsel also requested special verdict forms which would require the jury to designate upon which theory a first degree verdict was reached--premeditated or felony murder. (R1944-1954) The trial court denied the request. (R1954) All objections and requests were renewed after the court gave the instructions. (R2123)

PENALTY PHASE:

The State presented two witness at the penalty phase of the trial. (R2244-2260) Over defense objections (R2223-2244), John Chapin was allowed to testify about comments made by his 3 1/2 year old daughter, Christen Chapin, who was present at the house at the time of the homicides. (R2244-2246) The second State's witness was Michael Coachman who photographed the bodies at the medical examiner's office. (R2247-2260) He was permitted to present photographs depicting wounds. (R2247-2260)

Amazon presented only one witness (R2261-2366), Dr. Sydney Merin, a psychologist who had examined Ira. (R2261) Merin testified that Ira was markedly disturbed emotionally. (R2289-2292) His family's failure to provide him with love and support left him an emotional cripple. (R2294-2302,2314) Ira did not have the internalized ability to determine if his behavior was right or wrong. (R2292-2295); he depended on external sources for behavior control. (R2292-2315) Aspects of his emotional development were at a 13-year-old level, but others were at the level of a 2-year-old. (R2315)

In addition to his emotional disorder, Amazon had abused drugs for several years. (R1840-1842,2318-2319) Merin concluded that drug usage probably caused Ira to lose control of his behavior and that the homicides were the result of a panic reaction to the stress of the situation. (R2303-2322) Merin testified that during such a reaction Amazon could not control his behavior. (R2300-2322)

JUROR MISCONDUCT INQUIRY:

After the trial, information came to the judge's attention regarding possible misconduct of one of the jurors in the case. (R265-378) One of the jurors had been seen in the bar of the motel where the jury was sequestered. (R265-378) Pursuant to this information, the court, with counsel, conducted an extensive inquiry of all jurors and potential witnesses to juror misconduct. (R385-406,413-429,430-435,436-438,439-445,455-460,461-464,2467-3229) Amazon amended his pending motion for new trial to include a ground based on juror misconduct. (R410-412)

The inquiry disclosed that four jurors violated the sequestration instructions. Three of the four jurors, George Fox, Margaret Trembly and Francis Marcotte, went to the bar in the motel. (R2619-2662,2667-2695,2697-2711,2714-2723,2725-2776,2823-2825) Fox and Trembly were in the bar on two occasions. On the day a verdict was reached, but before the penalty phase began, George Fox may have been in the bar intoxicated. (R2752, 2889-2890) While there were other people in the bar with whom

the jurors spoke, the trial court found that the jurors were not improperly exposed to information about the case. (R448-449)

Francis Marcotte, who was an alternate juror, also met and had dinner with his fiancee while the jury was sequestered. (R449,2698-2711) His fiancee did not talk to him about the case. (R2704) Marcotte never expressed an opinion about the case to any other juror or alternate juror. (R2706)

One juror, Frank Hunter, watched television news accounts of the trial on three or four occasions. (R2940-2942, 2951-2954) He wanted to see himself on television, and he kept the volume turned off so that he heard none of the news story. (R2951-2952,3142) Most of the video taped portions of the trial which Hunter saw showed only jurors or court personel. (R3144-3232) However, one showed a portion of the FBI metallurgist's testimony about comparing the knife and markings on the framing of the window screen. (R3158,3169) This segment included the witness's demonstration of the possible pry marks on the knife and screen. (R3158,3169)

The trial court concluded that the juror's misconduct had not resulted in prejudicial information or influence reaching the jury's deliberations. (R447-450,489-490) Amazon's motion for new trial was denied. (R447-450,489-490)

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING AMAZON'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE MURDER CHARGES ON THE GROUND THAT DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROTECTIONS BARRED THEIR PROSECUTION, OR ALTERNATIVELY, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE MURDER PROSECUTION TO PROCEED UNDER A FELONY MURDER THEORY.

In addition to the two murder counts charged in the indictment in this case (R8-9), the State charged Amazon, via an information, with burglary and sexual battery. (DCR1-2) On April 26, 1982, Amazon pleaded guilty to the burglary and sexual battery charges. (DCR13-20) The allegations in the information (DCR1-2) and the factual basis the State offered during the plea colloquy clearly established that the burglary and sexual battery occurred at the same time and as a part of the criminal transaction resulting in the murders. (DCR17-18)(R8-9) Circuit Judge Thomas E. Penich, Jr., accepted the guilty pleas and found Amazon guilty. (DCR19-20) Upon acceptance of these pleas, jeopardy attached to the burglary and sexual battery charges.

Brown v. State, 367 So.2d 616,620-622 (Fla.1979); Reyes v. Kelly, 224 So.2d 303 (Fla.1969)

When the court accepted Amazon's pleas to the burglary and sexual battery, jeopardy also attached to the murder charges. First degree murder can be proven by establishing a premeditated murder or a homicide during the commission of certain felonies. §782.04(1)(a), Fla.Stat. (1981). An allegation of premeditated murder, such as in this case (R8-9), will support a prosecution

under both theories. 2/ Knight v. State, 338 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976). Amazon was prosecuted under both theories. (R82-84,725-730,1006-1017,2019,2095-2100,2106) The burglary and sexual battery were the underlying felonies for the murders. (R2106-2108) Consequently, the burglary and sexual battery were the same offense as the murders for double jeopardy purposes.

Whalen v. United States, 445 U.S. 684 (1980); State v. Hegstrom, 401 So.2d 1343 (Fla.1981). Double jeopardy protections afforded by the United States and Florida Constitutions prohibited the prosecution of the murder charges. Amends. V, XIV, U.S. Const.; Art. I, §9, Fla. Const.; Brown v. Ohio, 432 U.S. 161 (1977).

Amazon's motion to dismiss (R47-53) should have been granted.

Assuming for argument that double jeopardy principles did not preclude the prosecution for premeditated murder because the burglary and sexual battery were not factual elements, the trial court still committed error by not striking the felony murder theory of prosecution. (R82-84,725-730,1006-1017) The Second District Court of Appeal in denying Amazon's petition for writ of certiorari regarding this double jeopardy question implicitly advised the trial court not to instruct the jury on felony murder. (R144-146) Nevertheless, over Amazon's objections

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