IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

IRA MARTIN AMAZON,

Appellant,

ν.

CASE NO. 64,117

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUN 13 1984

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

By Chief Deputy Clerk

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES H. DYSART
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

Counsel for Appellee

/ech

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

With respect to cumulative sentences imposed in a single trial, the Double Jeopardy Clause does no more than prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended.

Our analysis and reasoning in Whalen and Albernaz lead inescapably to the conclusion that simply because two criminal statutes may be construed to proscribe the same conduct under the Blockburger test does not mean that the Double Jeopardy Clause precludes the imposition, in a single trial, of cumulative punishments pursuant to those statutes. The rule of statutory construction noted in

Whalen is not a constitutional rule requiring courts to negate clearly expressed legislative intent....

* * *

Where, as here, a legislature specifically authorizes cumulative punishment under two statutes, regardless of whether those two statutes proscribe the "same" conduct under Blockburger, a court's task of statutory construction is at an end and the prosecutor may seek and the trial court or jury may impose cumulative punishment under such statutes in a single trial.

When the Blockburger test is correctly applied in the instant case without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial, it becomes apparent that the trial court did not err in imposing judgments and sentences for two counts of first degree murder after appellant previously entered guilty pleas to the burglary and sexual battery charges. Obviously, it is possible to prove first degree murder without also proving burglary or sexual battery, and vice versa.

Murder requires the killing of a human being which neither sexual battery nor burglary require. Sexual battery requires an oral, anal, or vaginal penetration which is unnecessary for a murder. Burglary requires the entering or remaining in a structure or conveyance with the intent to commit an offense, which murder does not require. Thus, under a <u>Blockburger</u> analysis, first degree murder is a separate offense from burglary or sexual battery.

Even if this Court were not to follow <u>Borges</u>, <u>Carpenter</u>, <u>Whalen</u>, <u>Albernaz</u>, and <u>Hunter</u>, <u>supra</u>, in the instant case and,

instead, were to look to the proof adduced at trial, the conclusion would still be reached that the trial court did not err.

In McCampbell v. State, 421 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1982), this Court said:

Appellant's argument is that given the ambiguous verdict (not knowing if the jury were finding guilt of premeditated murder or felony murder), the logical choice would be felony murder; that being so, guilt and sentencing on the robbery charge must be vacated as a double jeopardy violation. State v. Pinder, 375 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 1979), receded from in State v. Hegstrom, 401 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 1981). However, we have said that if there be sufficient evidence to support a finding by the jury of premeditated murder, the principles announced in Pinder would not be applicable. Buford v. State, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1163, 102 S.Ct. 1037, 71 L.Ed.2d 319, and cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1164, 102 S.Ct. 1039, 71 L.Ed.2d 320 (1982). In the instant case, the testimony of witnesses Young, Schmidt, Orlicka, and Calhoun present adequate proof of premeditation. "If the evidence shows that the accused had ample time to form a purpose to kill the deceased and for the mind of the killer to become fully conscious of his own design, it will be deemed sufficient in point of time in which to enable the killer to form a premeditated design to kill." 403 So.2d at 949. There being adequate proof of premeditation, appellant may thus be convicted and sentenced for the robbery offense.

See also <u>Heiney v. State</u>, __So.2d__ (Fla. 1984)[9 FLW 54, 56] and <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982).

In the present case there is sufficient or adequate evidence of premeditation to support appellant's murder convictions. (See appellee's argument as to Issue VI D.)

Appellant may attempt to distinguish the instant case from McCampbell, Heiney, and Breedlove, supra, by arguing that those three cases involved single trial settings whereas this case involves more than a single trial setting. Appellee disputes this claim.

In the trial court, the State always intended and expected to have appellant's four charges tried together. An information charging the two counts of sexual battery and burglary was filed December 8, 1981, the same date the Grand Jury's indictment for the two murders was filed. (DCR 1, 2; R 8, 9) Appellant filed a written plea of not guilty to the four charges in a single document on January 6, 1982, and trial was set on all four charges for May 3, 1982. (R 27, 37) Appellant demanded discovery to all four charges in his single Demand For Discovery dated December 9, 1981. (R 11, 12) In its single Answer To Demand For Discovery dated December 21, 1981, the State provided discovery as to all four charges. (R 20-24) Until appellant unexpectedly pled guilty to the sexual battery and burglary charges on April 26, 1982, all four charges were considered together in almost all of the pleadings filed by the parties. The State never reached any plea agreement with appellant and always intended to prosecute him on all four charges in a single trial.

The instant case does not present the usual pattern historically associated with the policy objectives of the double jeopardy clause. No additional charges have been

filed after an accused has been found guilty of one offense; no attempt has been made to present a prosecution following an earlier failure of proof. No repeated attempts have been made to subject the accused to embarrassment, expense and ordeal and to compel him to live in a continuing state of anxiety and insecurity. The State merely insists on the right to compel appellant to answer once for each offense of murder he is accused of committing and that he not be permitted to totally avoid such accountability.

Even if this Court finds that this case involves more than a single trial setting, appellant's double jeopardy claim still must fail. Appellant relies on Brown v. Ohio, 432 U.S. 161, 53 L.Ed.2d 187 (1977). However, in Brown, the Court held that the double jeopardy clause precluded successive prosecutions for joyriding and auto theft because joyriding required no proof beyond that which was required for conviction of auto theft. Brown rested on the fact that joyriding was necessarily a lesser included offense of auto theft. In the instant case, there may be a conviction of murder in the first degree without necessarily requiring as a statutory element the offenses of burglary or sexual battery. Thus, Brown is inapposite.

Appellant may refer to footnote 6 of <u>Brown v. Ohio</u>, <u>supra</u>, and argue that the Blockburger test is not the only standard upon which he can rely. But in that footnote the Supreme

Court noted that successive prosecutions may in some circumstances be barred "where the second prosecution requires the relitigation of factual issues already resolved by the first." 53 L.Ed.2d at 195. In the instant case, appellant's prosecution for murder did not require relitigation of factual issues in appellant's guilty pleas to sexual battery or burglary.

Appellant also cites <u>Whalen v. United States</u>, 445 U.S. 684, 63 L.Ed.2d 715 (1980). However in <u>Whalen</u> the court concluded that rape was a <u>necessary</u> element of proof for the offense of killing a person in the course of a rape, that Congress did not intend separate sentences for both offenses, and that, consequently, the double jeopardy clause prohibited separate sentences for the offenses. <u>Whalen</u> involved only a single trial.

Amazon has not cited a single case that compels the conclusion that his murder trial violated the double jeopardy clause. His attempt to expand double jeopardy to apply to not only necessarily included lesser offenses, but also to other offenses which may be proved, is unsupported by decisional law and must be rejected.

It has also been recognized that where a defendant's actions are responsible for his offenses being prosecuted separately, his subsequent double jeopardy claim will be rejected. In the instant case, appellant caused his murder

offenses to be prosecuted separately from his burglary and sexual battery offenses. Thus, his double jeopardy claim is without merit.

In <u>Jeffers v. United States</u>, 432 U.S. 137, 53 L.Ed.2d 168 (1977), the Court stated:

Brown v. Ohio, [citation omitted], decided today, establishes the general rule that the Double Jeopardy Clause prohibits a State or the Federal Government from trying a defendant for a greater offense after it has convicted him of a lesser included offense....

* *

The rule established in Brown, however, does have some exceptions....

* * *

If the defendant expressly asks for separate trials on the greater and the lesser offenses, or, in connection with his opposition to trial together, fails to raise the issue that one offense might be a lesser included offense of the other, another exception to the Brown rule emerges....
[A]lthough a defendant is normally entitled to have charges on a greater and a lesser offense resolved in one proceeding, there is no violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause when he elects to have the two offenses tried separately and persuades the trial court to honor his election.

In the instant case, appellant's four charges would have been resolved in a single proceeding if he had not elected to plead guilty to two of the charges prior to trial.

In <u>United States v. Scott</u>, 437 U.S. 82, 57 L.Ed.2d 65 (1978), the Court held that no interest protected by the double jeopardy clause was compromised where the defendant

had sought to have his trial terminated without any submission to either judge or jury as to his guilt or innocence. In the present case, appellant sought to avoid having his guilt or innocence as to first degree murder submitted to either judge or jury by pleading to sexual battery and burglary and then raising a double jeopardy claim. Such a use of the double jeopardy clause should not be sanctioned by this Court. As the Court in Scott stated, "the Double Jeopardy Clause, which guards against Government oppression, does not relieve a defendant from the consequences of his voluntary choice." (437 U.S. 82 at 99)

- CF. <u>Hawk v. Berkemer</u>, 610 F.2d 445 (6th Cir. 1979).
- Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.151 provides:
- "(a) For purposes of these Rules, two or more offenses are related offenses if they are triable in the same court and are based on the same act or transaction or on two or more connected acts or transactions.
- (b) Two or more indictments or informations charging related offenses shall be consolidated for trial on a timely motion by a defendant or by the state. The procedure thereafter shall be the same as if the prosecution were under a single indictment or information. Failure to timely move for consolidation constitutes a waiver of the right to consolidation.
- (c) When a defendant has been tried on a charge of one of two or more related offenses, the charge of every other related offense shall be dismissed on the defendant's motion unless a motion by such defendant for consolidation of such charges has been previously denied, or unless such defendant has waived his right to consolidation, or unless

the prosecution has been unable, by due diligence, to obtain sufficient evidence to warrant charging such other offense or offenses.

(d) A defendant may plead guilty or nolo contendere to a charge of one offense on condition that other charges or related offenses be dismissed or that no charges of other related offenses be instituted. Should the court find that such condition cannot be fulfilled, the plea shall be considered withdrawn."

Under this rule, a defendant may request consolidation of related offenses; failure to timely move for such consolidation constitutes a waiver thereof. When a defendant has been tried on a charge, the charge of every other related offense may be subsequently dismissed on the defendant's motion unless, inter alia, the defendant has waived the right to consolidate. Similarly, under subsection (d) a defendant may plead guilty or nolo contendere to one charge on condition that other charges or related offenses be dismissed or that no related offenses be instituted. Should the court find such condition cannot be fulfilled, the plea shall be considered In the case sub judice, appellant, well aware of withdrawn. pending related offenses, submitted his plea without seeking to condition it on dismissal of the other charges (murder), (DCR 13-20) Therefore, he was not in a position to complain about a subsequent trial of the related offenses. State v. Harris, 357 So.2d 758 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978).

Since it was appellant who sought to insure that prosecution of the murder charge and the sexual battery/burglary offenses would be separate, and since appellant had yet to have his guilt or innocence of the offense of murder resolved by judge or jury, his double jeopardy claim was rightly rejected by the trial court.

Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in allowing his murder prosecution to proceed under a felony murder theory is likewise without merit. It is well settled in Florida that the State may proceed on alternative theories of premeditation and felony murder. Griffin v. State, 414 So.2d 1025 (Fla. 1982).

Appellee disputes appellant's statement on page 15 of his brief that the Second District Court of Appeal implicitly advised the trial court not to instruct the jury on felony murder. Actually, the appellate court implicitly advised appellant that to preserve his argument on appeal he should request appropriate instructions and special verdicts.

Appellant is correct that specific verdicts were not legally required in this case, but he is incorrect that the trial court abused its discretion in not requiring them (see footnote 3 on page 15 of appellant's brief).

ISSUE II.

WHETHER AMAZON'S ABSENCE FROM THE JURY VIEW OF THE SCENE VIOLATED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT ALL STAGES OF HIS TRIAL.

Appellant's counsel states on page 19 of appellant's brief that "Ira Amazon certainly had the right to be present at the jury view of the crime scene when evidence was presented in this case." Appellee has no quarrel with that statement. But appellee does quarrel with appellant's argument that he had no right not to be present at the jury view of the crime scene.

There are at least two substantial reasons why appellant might have desired to be absent from the jury view: (1) returning to the scene of the crime might have an adverse psychological effect on him, and (2) his presence at the crime scene might have an adverse effect on the jury. There may have been other valid reasons for appellant to be absent. If trial counsel decided for tactical reasons that it would be best for appellant to be absent, and if appellant agreed with those tactical decisions, might it not have denied appellant a fair trial for the trial court to force appellant to be present?

It is highly significant that appellant's experienced and competent trial counsel recommended to appellant that he waive his presence. Trial counsel obviously came to the conclusion that appellant's best interests would be served

if he were absent from the jury view of the crime scene. Whether appellant should be present at the jury view was discussed "in detail" with appellant. Appellant then authorized counsel to enter a waiver of his presence on his behalf. (R 1044) It has been recognized that law and tradition allocate to counsel the power to make decisions of trial strategy in many areas. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 at 573 (1975); United States v. Gradsky, 434 F.2d 880 (5th Cir. 1970).

It should also be noted that not at any time after appellant waived his presence at the jury view did he object to his absence therefrom. No objection was made to witnesses describing the crime scene to the jury, and no objection was made to the playing and narration at the crime scene of a video tape of the crime scene area. No mention of appellant's absence from the jury view was made in appellant's motions for a new trial. Appellee submits that if there was error in appellant's absence from the jury view, that error has not been preserved for appellate review by appropriate objection.

As a general rule, appellate courts will not review a matter raised for the first time on appeal. Only in the rare case of fundamental error is the defendant's right to appeal preserved without a contemporaneous objection. State v. Jones, 377 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 1979). The instant case does not exhibit fundamental error. See Lowman v. State, 85 So. 166 (Fla. 1920), and Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 78 L.Ed 674 (1934).

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